STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Georgetown County

Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
DEC 04 2013
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CHRISTOPHER MILLER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2011-197146

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CARMEN V. GANJEHSANI
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Appellant Christopher Miller is entitled to a directed verdict on the charge of criminal conspiracy where the State failed to prove any facts that would reasonably support an agreement between himself and co-defendant Keri Pope or anyone else to commit murder and where the evidence presented by the State merely raises a mere suspicion of Miller's alleged guilt.

- II. Where the Trial Court directed a verdict as to co-defendant Keri Pope on the criminal conspiracy charge and the State did not prove that Appellant Christopher Miller conspired with anyone else but Keri Pope to commit murder, Miller's conviction for criminal conspiracy must be set aside where the acquittal of the only other possible co-conspirator negates the possibility of an agreement which is an essential element of the crime of conspiracy.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 12, 2009, Appellant Christopher Neal Miller was indicted by the Georgetown County Grand Jury on (1) one count of murder in the death of Joey Pope; and (2) one count of criminal conspiracy. R.935. His co-defendant, Keri Fore Pope, was also indicted on (1) one count of murder; and (2) one count of criminal conspiracy. R. 2, ll. 17-19.

A trial was held before the Honorable Steven H. John and a jury on July 21-22 and 25-29, 2011. R. 1; July 27, R. 285; July 28, R. 588; July 29 R. 837. Miller and his co-defendant, Keri Pope, were tried together. R. 2, ll. 17-19. Miller was represented by Wesley Locklair. R. 1. Keri Pope was represented by John H. Hilliard, III; Julia M. Bass; and Keita C. Sakata. Id. The State was represented by Assistant Solicitor Scott R. Hixson. Id.

On July 28, 2011, Judge John directed a verdict for Keri Pope for the crimes of murder and criminal conspiracy, ruling that despite her lies to the police department and inconsistencies in her statements, “submission to this jury as to the crimes of murder and criminal conspiracy would cause this jury to speculate, would cause this jury to engage in decision making where the evidence is sufficient only to raise a mere suspicion of guilt.” July 28, R. 834, l. 5 – 835, l. 14.

Judge John denied Miller’s directed verdict motion and allowed the case against him for murder and criminal conspiracy to proceed. July 28, R. 834, ll. 1-4.

On July 29, 2011, the jury returned a verdict of not guilty on the charge of murder against Miller. July 29, R. 927, ll. 19-23. As to the charge of criminal conspiracy, the jury found Miller guilty. July 29, R. 927, l. 24 – 928, l. 3.

Judge John sentenced Miller to five years imprisonment, the maximum penalty allowable by law for criminal conspiracy. July 29, R. 934, ll. 2-12.

Miller timely served and filed his Notice of Appeal on August 5, 2011.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In the evening hours on May 27, 2003 around 11:45 p.m., members of the Georgetown, S.C. police department and Georgetown County E.M.S. responded to a call in regard to a shooting at a home on Highmarket Street. R. 3, l. 21 – 4, l. 16; 32, ll. 20-24; 42, ll. 8-11; 635, ll. 21-25; July 27, R. 392, l. 21 – 393, l. 2. The complainant that dialed 911 and stated that her husband had been shot was Keri Pope. R. 42, ll. 13-20; 59, ll. 17-20.

Joey Pope was found in his bed with gunshot wounds, and a deceased dog that also appeared to be shot was lying in the hallway. R. 12, ll. 1; 13, ll. 5-7, 17-18; 19, ll. 23-24. When EMS arrived on the scene, an officer and Joey Pope's wife, Keri Pope were performing C.P.R. on Joey Pope. R. 37, l. 25 – 38, l. 2.

Joey Pope was taken to the hospital where he later died of his gunshot wounds. R. 25, ll. 2-5; 26, ll. 18-21; 136, l. 17 – 137, l. 6; July 27, R. 393, ll. 3-5.

Statement of Keri Pope

On May 29, 2003, two days after Joey Pope's murder, Keri Pope described the events that transpired on the day of her husband's murder. July 27, R. 358, ll. 5-22.

Keri Pope said that she picked up Joey from his job at the Georgetown County Detention Center, where he had begun work approximately three weeks prior, a few minutes after 6:00 p.m. The two of them then went to Wal-Mart and walked around a little bit. They had arrived at the Wal-Mart around 6:15 to 6:30 p.m. They bought a ball for their thirteen month old daughter and went to the Blockbuster located inside the Wal-Mart. She spoke with a friend of her who worked there, Tiffany Cooper, and Joey rented a game. When they went into Wal-Mart, Keri asked Joey to put some money down on her layaway for a bathing suit, and he said no.

Keri and Joey left the store around 7:00 or 7:15 p.m., and she made Joey some sandwiches. He ate the sandwiches and he began playing his video game while she watched television in the kitchen.

Around 8:00 p.m., she stopped watching television. Shortly after 8:00, she heard a knock at the front door and there were two black males at the door, one named Germane who she recognized from school. They were interested in looking at a truck that Joey had out front for sale. Joey went outside to show the truck to the two men.

The two men left, and Joey and Keri went back inside the house. Joey told Keri he needed to park his car inside the fence because the two men had asked him if he wanted to buy a CD player, so he thought they might come back and steal the stereo out of the car.

At that point, Keri said Joey went to bed. Keri finished cleaning up, cooked pork chops, and fed herself and the baby.

Keri went into the bedroom to try to get Joey up, but he told her to get out of the room.

Keri said she then received a telephone call from Joey's cousin, Shane Prince, around 9:35 p.m. or 9:40 p.m. Keri told Joey that Shane was on the telephone, but Joey waved her on and said to tell Shane to call back in thirty minutes.

Shane called back around 10:20 p.m., and Joey talked to Shane for about a minute and rolled over and went back to sleep.

At 10:30 p.m., Keri put the baby down to sleep and about ten minutes later around 10:40 p.m., she went to take the trash out. She took the trash out the front door. When she walked out front, she saw Chris Miller and Nick Lambert riding by in a car. Chris yelled

something to her and she waved as they drove by. Keri walked back inside and sat down in the den and started playing the PlayStation.

Keri then heard a knock on the side door. She thought it was going to be Chris and Nick coming back to see her. Keri asked who was out at the door and no one answered. She opened the door and stuck her face out, and when she did, she saw a black male standing on the step. Keri said she was caught off guard because she thought it was going to be Chris.

There was another black male behind the first one. Keri said she had never seen these two guys before. The two men were not wearing a disguise of any sort.

Keri asked them what the two men what they wanted, and they said they wanted to talk about the truck.

Keri said the men asked about Joey, and she informed them that Joey was asleep. According to Keri, "the guy said good, and he then reached in, in the door, with his left hand and grabbed - - started pushing on the door." Keri tried to push back and said her pit bull was barking. Keri said she never yelled, but was concentrating on keeping the door closed.

Keri said the one of the men pushed his way inside and grabbed the necklace she had around her neck and pulled her back with that. He pushed her into the house with the necklace before it broke. Keri and the man went down the hallway. She was not sure if the man led her to Joey's bedroom or if she had led him to Joey.

As soon as Keri walks into the doorway of the bedroom, she flips on the light and yells, "Joey, get up." She is screaming for Joey to get up, and Joey at that point wakes up and kind of turns over with his hand up to block the light. Keri said the man then stepped beside her and fired a shot into Joey's stomach. The man fired a second shot into Joey's

stomach. The man then walked around the left side of the bed and shot Joey three more times in the head.

Keri also heard a gun go off in the hallway, and so she looked and saw the other guy shooting the dog out in the hallway.

When the men were done, they did not say a word to her and one man told the other one, "come on, we've got to go."

At that point, Keri is offering them what money she has, saying take what you want because they thought the men were going to look through the rest of the house. The two men, however, nonchalantly walked straight out the side door.

Keri said she was confused at first. She did not know if she ran to Joey first or to the telephone to dial 911. She started to dial 911, but then decided to go get a gun out of the kitchen closet. She looked at the door to see if she could see the two men but she never saw them.

She then dialed 911 and either hung up or got disconnected, ran back into the room where Joey was located, found a cordless phone and dialed 911. 911 called her back because she had hung up. Law enforcement arrived shortly after that. July 27, R. 361, l. 4 - 101, l. 17.

At subsequent questionings, Keri admitted that she and Chris Miller had previously had a physical relationship. July 28, R. 752, ll. 5-18.

Statement of Christopher Miller

Miller stated on the day Joey Pope's murder, he was at Chris Bonds' house with Nick Lambert on Duke Street. The three of them were there for a period of time. Officers

from the Georgetown Police Department came down there to interview them about an unrelated incident that had taken place.

Approximately thirty minutes after that interview, Chris and Nick left, traveled down Duke Street, went to Highmarket Street, and traveled past the Pope house. At that time, Chris observed Keri taking out the trash. Chris stuck his head out of the window and hollered at her and then they went from there to his house.

A short time later Chris received a telephone call from Tabitha Hanna saying that Joey had been shot, so Chris left to go to the hospital. Chris asserted that he did not go into the Pope home that night. July 28, R. 610, l. 3 – 611, l. 14.

Testimony of James Delton Goude, Jr.

James Goude testified that he knew Joey and Keri Pope, as well as Christopher Miller. R. 220, l. 20 – 221, l. 21. He also said that Joey Pope and Christopher Miller had a close relationship and that Chris was often at Joey's house. R. 221, l. 25 – 222, l. 6. James Goude said on the night of May 27, 2003, he ate at a restaurant with his wife, and after that, around 9:30 or 9:45 p.m., they were going to stop by Joey's house. Goude slowed down to turn into Joey's driveway, but they noticed that Chris' car was there and Goude's wife said, it's late, let's just go home. Goude claimed he saw Keri at the door with Chris and someone he thought was Nick Lambert walking behind Chris. R. 229, ll. 1-16. Goude maintained that Keri was at the side door with her left arm holding the door, with Chris and someone he assumed was Nick walking in the house even though he did not see Nick's face. R. 230, ll. 11-13; 252, l. 13 – 253, l. 3.

Goude, however, had also provided a statement to the police that he had only seen Chris' car with its headlights on at the Pope house and that he had not specifically seen Chris walking into the Pope house. R. 275, l. 7 – 277, l. 11.

Testimony of Angel Goude

Angel Goude, the wife of James Goude, and who also knew the Popes and Chris Miller, said that on the night of May 27, 2003 when she and James drove by the Pope house after eating dinner, she did not see Chris or anybody over at the Pope home, although her husband had told her that Chris' car was there. R. 279, l. 18 – 281, l. 8. She also claimed she overheard Chris at the hospital say something about how he was the one that found Joey and called 911. R. 283, ll. 9-21.

Testimony of Tabitha Hanna

Tabitha Hanna was a sixteen-year old friend of Joey and Keri Pope. On May 27, 2003, she claimed she stopped by the Pope house between 9:45 and 10:15 p.m., knocked on the door, but since no one answered, she left. She said that she did not hear the dog barking, even though when she had gone to the house before and knocked, the dog had always barked. July 27, R. 474, l. 6 – 475, l. 21. She initially insisted she found out at 10:30 p.m. that Joey had been shot but later changed her statement to the time she found as 11:30 p.m. after being refreshed with a statement she made to law enforcement on June 13, 2003. July 27, R. 476, ll. 8-15; 478, l. 11 – 479, l. 14.

Tabitha also said she did not see Chris Miller's car parked near the Pope's home at any point in time that night and testified that Chris' car was broken down in 2003. July 27, R. 493, ll. 6-19.

Tabitha said she called Chris with the news that Joey had been shot. July 27, R. 477, ll. 1-4.

Testimony of Tiffany Cooper

Tiffany Cooper confirmed that on May 27, 2003, Keri and Joey came into the Blockbuster where she was working. She said Joey and Keri seemed a little distant, like perhaps they had gotten into an argument. July 27, R. 500, ll. 8-24.

Tiffany testified that later in the evening, between 11:00 and 11:30 p.m., Keri telephoned her and said that she and Joey had been in an argument. Tiffany asserted that Keri said Chris and a few other people had been over at the house, but they had already left. July 27, R. 501, l. 8 – 502, l. 9. Keri also allegedly told Tiffany that “she didn’t think it was going to work any more.” July 27, R. 502, ll. 10-14.

Tiffany also said that Keri had told her that she and Chris Miller had had a physical relationship before. July 27, R. 500, ll. 5-7.

Tiffany also confirmed that she was aware that Keri and Joey Pope had an abusive relationship. July 27, R. 496, l. 23 – 499, l. 1.

Testimony of Roger Darrell Banks

Roger Banks was also knew Keri and Joey Pope, as well as Christopher Miller. July 27, R. 562, l. 10 – 563, l. 10. His testimony confirmed that Joey Pope was involved in various drug dealing activities. July 27, R. 568, l. 8 – 573, l. 8.

Testimony of Bruce Richardson

Bruce Richardson also testified at trial. He is currently serving an eighteen year sentence for first degree burglary. Richardson said he had the occasion to be in jail with Christopher Miller at some point in time, and that he was approached by Chris Miller at the

law library where Chris allegedly asked Richardson to help him with some legal research. Chris allegedly said that he needed to research murder cases because he only shot and killed a dog, and that he could not be guilty of murder.

Chris purportedly told Richardson that he was driven over to Joey Pope's house by a guy named Nick Lambert and that he was supposed to go in and shoot Joey Pope. When Chris allegedly saw Joey lying in bed asleep, Chris could not shoot him. Chris purportedly backed down, shots were fired, and as a result the dog charged him from the bed and so Chris shot and killed the dog. July 27, R. 533, l. 18 – 536, l. 25.

For his testimony against Chris, Richardson admitted he had asked to be transferred to an institution closer to his home and was hopeful for a reduction in his sentence. July 27, R. 535, ll. 11-14; 539, ll. 5-25.

Testimony of Bruce Taylor

Bruce Taylor, also currently incarcerated, said he had spoken with Chris Miller about the charges pending against Miller, and that Miller apparently said the State did not have any evidence and that no evidence was left behind. July 28, R. 731, l. 8 – 733, l. 10.

ARGUMENT

Appellant Christopher Miller is entitled to a directed verdict on the charge of criminal conspiracy for two separate reasons. First, the State failed to prove any facts that would reasonably support an agreement between himself and Keri Pope or anyone else to murder Joey Pope. The State's evidence against Miller only raised a mere suspicion of his guilt. Second, where the Trial Court directed a verdict as to Keri Pope on the criminal conspiracy charge and the State did not prove that Miller conspired with anyone else to commit murder, Miller's conviction for criminal conspiracy must be set aside where the acquittal of the only other possible co-conspirator negates the possibility of an agreement. Accordingly, the criminal conspiracy conviction against Miller must be reversed.

I. Appellant Christopher Miller is entitled to a directed verdict on the charge of criminal conspiracy where the State failed to prove any facts that would reasonably support an agreement between himself and co-defendant Keri Pope or anyone else to commit murder and where the evidence presented by the State merely raises a mere suspicion of Miller's alleged guilt.

On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, the Court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 586, 720 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2011). The defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to provide evidence of the offense charged. Id. However, if there is any direct or *substantial* circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, an appellate court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury. State v. Pinckney, 339 S.C. 346, 349, 529 S.E.2d 526, 527 (2000). A circuit judge should grant a directed verdict motion when the evidence raises merely a suspicion the accused is guilty. State v. Schrock, 283 S.C. 129, 132, 322 S.E.2d 450, 451-52 (1984).

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-17-410 defines a conspiracy as “a combination between two or more persons for the purpose of accomplishing an unlawful object or lawful object by unlawful means.” Proof of a conspiracy is often necessarily by circumstantial evidence alone. State v. Miller, 223 S.C. 128, 133, 74 S.E.2d 582, 585 (1953). Nevertheless, “the law calls for an objective, rather than subjective, test in determining the existence of a conspiracy.” State v. Crocker, 366 S.C. 394, 406, 621 S.E.2d 890, 897 (Ct. App. 2005). The appellate courts, in viewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a charge of conspiracy, “must exercise caution to ensure the proof is not obtained ‘by piling inference upon inference.’” State v. Gunn, 313 S.C. 124, 134, 437 S.E.2d 75, 81 (1993) (quoting Direct Sales Co. v. U.S., 319 U.S. 703, 711 (1943)).

“The gravamen of the offense of conspiracy is the agreement, or combination.” State v. Crawford, 362 S.C. 627, 637, 608 S.E.2d 886, 891 (Ct. App. 2005). The very essence of a conspiracy is the agreement. State v. Buckmon, 347 S.C. 316, 323, 555 S.E.2d 402, 405 (2011).

For criminal conspiracy, it is not necessary to prove an overt act. The gist of the crime is the unlawful combination, and the crime is then complete even if nothing further is done. Crawford, 362 S.C. at 637, 608 S.E.2d at 891.

A formal or express agreement is not required to prove criminal conspiracy. “A tacit, mutual understanding, resulting in the willful and intentional adoption of a common design by two or more persons is sufficient, provided the common purpose is to do an unlawful act either as a means or an end.” Id. (internal citations omitted).

Professor McAnich has explained: “The mere fact that two persons happened to be doing the same thing at the same time does not compel the conclusion that there was a

conspiracy.” William Shepard McAnich & W. Gaston Fairey, *The Criminal Law of South Carolina*, 476 (4th ed. 2002).

This State’s Supreme Court approved the following explanation of conspiracy given by the trial judge:

[S]uppose, Mr. Foreman, that you and the gentleman on your left would go out in the streets of Orangeburg and commit an assault and battery on some other person, that would be an unlawful act, but it would not be a conspiracy, unless there was an agreement between you to do the act before doing it. It is an *agreement* to do an unlawful act that is the gist of the whole matter.

State v. Ameker, 73 S.C. 330, 339, 53 S.E. 484, 487 (1906).

The guilty act of the conspiracy is the agreement, and that is what the State’s evidence must prove. Crawford, 362 S.C. at 641, 608 S.E.2d at 893.

In this case, the State presented no direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Miller had any agreement between himself and Keri Pope or any other person to commit the murder of Joey Pope.

Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, the only evidence offered at trial against Miller was the following:

1. That at some point in time he had a physical relationship with Keri Pope, although the State presented no evidence as to how long this relationship may have lasted, when it occurred, and whether it was still occurring at the time of Joey Pope’s death;
2. James Goude claimed he saw Miller walking into the Pope home with Keri around 9:45 p.m. on May 27, 2003;
3. Tiffany Cooper testified she had a telephone conversation with Keri around 11:00 p.m. on the evening of May 27, 2003 in which Keri allegedly said Miller had left her house;
4. Angel Goude thought she overheard Miller at the hospital saying that he found Joey Pope and called 911;
5. The evidence indicated that two guns were used on May 27, 2003 – one to kill Joey Pope and one to kill the dog;

6. Bruce Taylor claimed Miller told him the State had no evidence against him for the murder of Joey Pope and no evidence was left behind; and
7. Bruce Richardson contended that Miller told him that on the day in question, he was driven over to Joey Pope's house by Nick Lambert and that Miller was supposed to go in and shoot Joey Pope, but that he backed out and when shots were fired and the dog charged him from the bed, Miller allegedly shot and killed the dog.

The above was the entirety of the evidence in the record as to Miller, and none of this evidence establishes that Miller had any agreement with anyone to do an unlawful act. The State is improperly trying to pile inference upon inference to obtain a guilty verdict against Miller on criminal conspiracy.

That Miller once had a physical relationship with Keri Pope shows absolutely nothing with respect to whether they had an agreement to commit murder. That Miller may have been at the Pope home on the night of May 27, 2003 also shows nothing, especially where the evidence at trial established that he was good friends with the Popes and often at their house. R. 221, l. 25 – 222, l. 6. That he and Keri Pope were together at the same place does not establish an agreement to commit murder. See State v. Larmand, 402 S.C. 184, 739 S.E.2d 898, 903 (Ct. App. 2013) (holding that evidence that the defendant and another man arrived at the same place together did not constitute evidence from which the jury could infer the defendant and the other man had a common agreement and understanding to injure the victim or point a firearm at the victim; therefore, the trial court erred in denying the defendant's motion for directed verdict).

Angel Goude's belief that she may have overheard Miller at the hospital saying that he found Joey Pope and called 911 is not evidence of any agreement between Miller and anyone to commit murder. At most, this evidence perhaps points to whether Miller

murdered Joey Pope, but the jury has already rejected such a contention by finding Miller not guilty of murder.

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