ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Georgetown County
Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2011-197146

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

CHRISTOPHER MILLER,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JULIE KATE KEENEY
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 100145

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The directed verdict issue Appellant asserts on appeal is not preserved because he conceded that the State presented evidence of a conspiracy. Regardless, the trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict because the State presented direct evidence that Appellant participated in a conspiracy.

Appellant's directed verdict argument fails for two reasons: First, at trial, Appellant conceded that the State presented evidence Appellant participated in a conspiracy; therefore, the issue is not preserved. Second, even if Appellant had not conceded the issue, Richardson's testimony was direct evidence that Appellant participated in a conspiracy. Thus, the trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict with respect to the conspiracy charge.

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, appellate courts only review errors of law. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, the appellate court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the appellate court must affirm the trial judge's ruling. State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593-594, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004).

Critically, the appellate court may only reverse the trial judge's denial of a directed verdict motion if there is no evidence supporting the trial judge's ruling. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 555, 564 S.E.2d 87, 92 (2002). “[U]nless there is a total failure of evidence tending to establish the charge laid in the indictment, the trial judge's ruling

upon a motion for a directed verdict must stand absent an error of law.” State v. Nix, 288 S.C. 492, 496, 343 S.E.2d 627, 629 (Ct. App. 1986) (emphasis added).

Analysis

A. Preservation

First, Appellant’s directed verdict argument on appeal fails because he conceded the issue at trial; therefore, the issue is not preserved for appellate review.

An issue conceded at trial cannot be argued on appeal. TNS Mills, Inc. v. South Carolina Dep’t of Revenue, 331 S.C. 611, 503 S.E.2d 471 (1998); see State v. Benton, 338 S.C. 151,156-157, 526 S.E.2d 228, 230 (2000) (holding that the issue was not preserved for review because the defendant conceded the issue at trial, and the defendant cannot argue one ground at trial and another ground on appeal).

At trial, Appellant admitted that Richardson’s testimony established a conspiracy but claimed he was entitled to a directed verdict because he withdrew from the conspiracy. (July 28, 2011 R. pp. 814-816.) Appellant stated: “There was evidence through Bruce Richardson that [Appellant] planned to go in and kill [Victim] in a conspiracy, but he withdrew from that. So that obviously is a separate thing.” (July 28, 2011 R. p. 816.) Further, Appellant argued: “[A]s far as conspiracy, there’s no **competent** evidence to prove it.” (July 28, 2011 R. p. 816) (emphasis added).

Notably, on appeal, Appellant does not make any argument that he withdrew from the conspiracy; therefore, Appellant abandoned that argument on appeal. See Jinks v. Richland Cnty., 355 S.C. 341, 344, 585 S.E.2d 281, 283 (2003) (holding issues not argued in the brief are deemed abandoned and precluded from consideration on appeal); see also State v. Hudgins, 319 S.C. 233, 237, 460 S.E.2d 388, 390-91 (1995) (a party may not argue one ground at trial and another on appeal); State v. Bray, 342 S.C. 23, 28, 535

S.E.2d 636, 639, n.2 (2000) (it is error for an appellate court to consider an issue which is not properly before it). Regardless, the record is devoid of any evidence suggesting that Appellant communicated to his co-conspirators an intent to withdraw from the conspiracy. See State v. Crocker, 366 S.C. 394, 407-408, 621 S.E.2d 890, 897 (Ct. App. 2005) (noting that the crime of conspiracy is complete at the time the agreement is made and a conspirator must communicate his or her intention to withdraw from the conspiracy to all co-conspirators).

Additionally, whether or not Richardson's testimony was credible was a question for the jury, not the judge. See State v. Pitts, 256 S.C. 420, 427, 182 S.E.2d 738, 742 (1971) (noting that a motion for a directed verdict is properly refused where the determination of guilt is dependent upon the credibility of a witness, as that is a question that goes to the weight of evidence and is a determination for a jury).

In summary, Appellant conceded the directed verdict issue at trial; therefore, the issue is not preserved for appellate review.

B. Merits

Second, Appellant's directed verdict argument on appeal fails because the State presented direct evidence that Appellant participated in a conspiracy.

Criminal conspiracy is "a combination between two or more persons for the purpose of accomplishing an unlawful object or lawful object by unlawful means." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-17-410. "The substantive crimes committed in furtherance of the conspiracy constitute circumstantial evidence of the existence of the conspiracy, its object, and scope." State v. Wilson, 315 S.C. 289, 294, 433 S.E.2d 864, 868 (1993). Notably, the State does not need to prove an express agreement or have direct evidence in

order to establish conspiracy. See State v. Cope, 405 S.C. 317, 348, 748 S.E.2d 194, 210 (2013). Further, “[i]n criminal conspiracy it is not necessary to prove an overt act.” State v. Crawford, 362 S.C. 627, 637, 608 S.E.2d 886, 891 (Ct. App. 2005). Although there must be at least two members of a conspiracy, the conspirators do not need to be indicted or named. Id. at 638, 608 S.E.2d at 892. In fact, the other conspirators can be unknown. See Id.

In this case, Richardson testified Appellant told him that Lambert drove Appellant to Victim’s house on the day of the murder. Appellant “*was supposed to go* in and shoot [Victim].” (July 27, 2011 R. p. 534) (emphasis added). But “when [Appellant] got inside he saw [Victim] lying in bed asleep, and he couldn’t shoot [Victim].” (July 27, 2011 R. p. 534.) Appellant claimed he “backed down and shots were fired, and as a result of that the dog charged him from the bed, and he shot and killed the dog.” (July 27, 2011 R. p. 534.) Richardson’s testimony alone established Appellant participated in a conspiracy. The fact Appellant’s co-conspirator is unknown is irrelevant. See Id. Further, Goude testified that on the day of the murder, around 9:45 p.m., he saw Appellant and another individual, who he believed to be Lambert, walk inside Victim’s home. (July 21, 2011 R. pp. 229-230.) Thus, the State presented evidence Appellant and another individual were inside the Victim’s home shortly before the murder and Appellant was “supposed” to kill Victim but killed the dog instead. Although the State was unable to identify the other member of the conspiracy, the State was not required to do so under South Carolina law. See Crawford, 362 S.C. at 638, 608 S.E.2d at 892.

In summary, not only did the State present sufficient evidence that Appellant participated in a conspiracy with an unknown individual, but Appellant conceded the issue at trial.

II.

Appellant failed to preserve the issue on appeal because he never raised the issue to the trial judge. Further, the fact that the trial judge granted Appellant's co-defendant a directed verdict for the conspiracy charge did not negate the possibility of an agreement between Appellant and a co-conspirator.

Appellant's argument fails for two reasons: First, Appellant never raised the issue he asserts on appeal to the trial judge; therefore, the issue is not preserved. Second, the fact the trial judge granted Appellant's co-defendant a directed verdict for the conspiracy charge did not negate the possibility of an agreement between Appellant and a co-conspirator.

A. Preservation

First, Appellant failed to preserve the issue he asserts on appeal because he never raised the issue to the trial judge.

Under South Carolina law, an issue must be raised and **ruled upon** in order for an appellate court to consider the issue on appeal. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-694 (2003); State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005). Also, in order for an appellate court to consider an issue on appeal, the objecting party must make a specific objection to the admission of the evidence. McKissick v. J.F. Cleckley & Co., 325 S.C. 327, 344, 479 S.E.2d 67, 75 (Ct. App. 1996). The objection should be specific enough so that the trial judge can reasonably understand the alleged error. Id. Further, the objecting party must argue the same ground on appeal as he or she did at the trial level. Id. In other words, the objecting party cannot change his or her argument once he or she reaches the appellate level. Id.

In the case at hand, Appellant never argued to the trial judge that his conviction for conspiracy should be set aside in light of the fact that the trial judge directed a verdict

in favor of his co-defendant. Thus, the trial judge never had an opportunity to rule upon the issue.

Accordingly, the issue Appellant asserts on appeal is not preserved for review.

B. Merits

Second, Appellant's argument on appeal fails because the fact that the trial judge granted Appellant's co-defendant a directed verdict for the conspiracy charge did not negate the possibility of an agreement between Appellant and a co-conspirator.

As discussed above, the State does not have to indict all of the members of the conspiracy. See Crawford, 362 S.C. at 638, 608 S.E.2d 892. In fact, the identity of the other conspirators can be unknown. Id.; State v. Hightower, 221 S.C. 91, 94, 69 S.E.2d 363, 366 (1952) (holding that there was "ample evidence that the conspirators, though unknown, did exist.").

Appellant's reliance on State v. Abraham, 780 A.2d 223 (Conn. App. Ct. 2001), is misplaced. In Abraham, the prosecution **only presented evidence** of a conspiracy between the defendant and **only one alleged conspirator**. Id. at 232. The prosecution only charged one person as a co-conspirator and never alleged or introduced evidence to establish that another person entered into the conspiracy. Id. The defendant's co-defendant was acquitted of conspiracy. Id. Because the prosecution failed to present evidence that someone other than defendant's co-defendant entered into a conspiracy with the defendant, the Appellate Court of Connecticut concluded that the defendant's conviction for conspiracy must be set aside. Id. at 233.

Notably, in United States v. Thomas, the Fourth Circuit rejected the defendant's argument that his conviction should be set aside because his sole co-conspirator was

acquitted. United States v. Thomas, 900 F.2d 37, 40 (4th Cir. 1990). In rejecting the defendant's "rule of consistency" argument, the court explained that the United States Supreme Court has held that consistency in the verdict is not necessary. Id. According to the Fourth Circuit, a jury could reach inconsistent verdicts for a number of reasons, including mistake, compromise, lenity, or inconsistent conclusion on a lesser offense. Id. Further, the court pointed out that there was enough evidence of a conspiracy between the defendant and co-defendant to uphold the jury's verdict. Id.

Approximately fifteen years later, in United States v. Collins, the Fourth Circuit revisited the "rule of consistency." United States v. Collins, 412 F.3d 515, 519-520 (4th Cir. 2005). Once again, the Fourth Circuit held that the acquittal of the sole co-conspirator did not require the court to set aside the defendant's conviction for conspiracy. Id. In the same trial, the jury acquitted the defendant's sole co-conspirator but found the defendant guilty of conspiracy. Id. at 519. In reaching its holding, the court explained that "a defendant is not entitled to a new trial when a jury reaches an inconsistent verdict." Id. at 520.

Further, our Supreme Court abolished the rule prohibiting inconsistent verdicts. State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 384, 401 S.E.2d 146, 150 (1991); State v. Mitchell, 399 S.C. 410, 422, 731 S.E.2d 889, 896 (Ct. App. 2012) (recognizing that our Supreme Court abolished the rule prohibiting inconsistent verdicts).

In the case at hand, the State indicted Appellant as follows: "[Appellant] did . . . on or about May 27, 2003 combine with Kerri F. Pope, **and/or with other persons**, for the purpose of accomplishing a criminal or unlawful object" (**Indictment**) (emphasis added). Unlike the prosecution in Abraham, the prosecution in this case presented evidence that Appellant conspired with someone, even though the other

conspirator was unknown. Although the solicitor made references regarding Appellant conspiring with Pope in his closing argument, he also argued the following: “At the time the blow was struck did [Appellant], at the time that blow was struck **or someone affiliated with [Appellant]**, did they have malice in their hearts” (July 29, 2011 R. p. 849) (emphasis added). Thus, neither the indictment nor the solicitor limited the members of the conspiracy to just Appellant and Pope.

More importantly, the evidence at trial did not limit the members of the conspiracy to just Appellant and Pope. At trial, the State presented evidence through Richardson’s testimony that proved Appellant entered into a conspiracy with someone to kill Victim. But the co-conspirator was simply unknown. Notably, the trial judge directed a verdict in favor of Pope for conspiracy because the evidence the State presented did not implicate Pope in the conspiracy. However, the evidence also did not exclude Pope as a member of the conspiracy. In other words, Pope’s acquittal did not necessarily mean she was innocent. See United States v. Straach, 987 F.2d, 232, 241 (5th Cir. 1993) (“An acquittal does not necessarily equate with a finding that the defendant was innocent.”).

In summary, the State presented evidence at trial that Appellant entered into a conspiracy with someone to kill Victim. Although the State was unable to identify the other member of the conspiracy, the State was not required to identify the co-conspirator under South Carolina law. Accordingly, this Court should affirm Appellant’s sentence and conviction.


CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.